## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

# **RECEIVED**

12-29-2011

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Appeal No. 2011AP001770-CR &

2011AP001771-CR

v.

Circuit Court No. 2008CF1221 &

2009CF156

**BRANDON M. MELTON** 

Defendant-Appellant.

## APPEAL BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT BRANDON M. MELTON

APPEAL OF THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION IN CIRCUIT COURT, WAUKESHA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE ROBERT MAWDSLEY & MARK D. GUNDRUM PRESIDING

Kevin M. Gaertner State Bar No. 1054221

> Law Shield of Wisconsin, L.L.C. 6714 West Fairview Avenue Milwaukee, WI 53213 Telephone: (414) 271-5656

Facsimile: (414) 271-6339

#

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Does the Circuit Court have the authority to order the destruction of a defective Presentence Investigation Report when a new Presentence Investigation Report has been prepared to replace it?

Trial Court: No (does not believe so)

# POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The issue presented by this appeal is not clearly controlled by existing law and, therefore, the appellant recommends both oral argument and publication. The opinion of the Court of Appeals will develop the law and will be of state-wide application.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 10, 2009, Brandon Melton ("Melton") entered guilty pleas on two charges to resolve the following three cases: 2008CF1221, 2009CF156, and 2009CF287. (43: 1-29; 33: 1-29).

Melton pled guilty as charged on circuit court case no. 2008CF001221, Second Degree Sexual Assault of a

Child Under 16 Years of Age, Wis. Stats. §948.02(2). (43: 2-10). He also pled guilty to an amended charge of Theft-Movable Property ≤ \$2,500, Wis. Stats. §943.20(1)(a) on circuit court case no. 2009CF000156, charges of Battery and Felony Bail Jumping were dismissed and read-in as part of the plea agreement. (33: 2-10). Also dismissed and read-in was a charge of Second Degree Sexual Assault of a Child Under 16 Years of Age on circuit court case no. 2009CF000287. (43: 2-10; 33: 2-10).

On September 21, 2009, the court ordered a Presentence Investigation Report to be prepared ("PSI 1"). (44: 9-10).

The PSI 1 was filed with the court on November 19, 2009. (14:1; 15:1).

Melton filed a Notice of Motion and Motion to Strike Portions of the PSI 1 on February 22, 2010. (20: 1-3; App. C, 301-303).

On March 25, 2010, the court ruled that a new presentence investigation report would be prepared and that the PSI 1 would be destroyed following the expiration of any appellate time limits. (49: 1-19, App. A, 101-119). A

written order was signed and filed on March 31, 2010. (21:1, App. D, 401).

The updated presentence investigation report ("PSI 2") was filed on April 15, 2010. (22:1).

The sentencing hearing proceeded on July 22, 2010. (51: 1-7). As to the Second Degree Sexual Assault of a Child Under 16 Years of Age, Wis. Stats. §948.02(2), Melton was sentenced to 12 years, with 4 years of initial confinement followed by 8 years of extended supervision. (31: 1; App. G, 701). On the Theft-Movable Property ≤ \$2,500, Wis. Stats. § 943.20(1)(a), Melton was sentenced to 6 months local jail, concurrent to his sentence on case no. 2008CF1221. (25: 1; App. H, 801).

After the sentencing hearing a review hearing proceeded on September 24, 2010. (53: 1-6; App. B, 201-206). At the hearing the circuit court modified the March 31, 2010 order, and ruled that the PSI 1 shall be sealed (as opposed to destroyed). (30: 1; App. E, 501).

Melton now files this appeal following the final order of the trial court.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

This appeal does not challenge the facts of the offenses Melton has been sentenced on, nor does it challenge the contents of any presentence investigation report prepared. The only issue being challenged is the circuit court's authority to order the PSI 1 to be destroyed. The facts are as stated below.

The circuit court ordered the PSI 1 to be prepared. (44: 9-10).

The PSI 1 was filed with the court on November 19, 2009. (14:1).

Melton's attorney filed a Notice of Motion and Motion to Strike Portions of the PSI 1 on February 22, 2010. (20: 1-3; App. C, 301-303). In the motion Melton's attorney requested the following relief:

Nowhere in the documents governing presentence investigations is there authority for a presentence author to include uncharged allegations regarding a defendant. The defendant therefore moves the court for an Order that the information referred to beginning at page 2 and continuing through the top paragraph on page 4 be stricken, and further that the 2<sup>nd</sup> paragraph on page 7 under the heading of Offender's Version also be stricken from the report, and a new presentence report be prepared deleting that information and further that the original presentence report prepared on November 19, 2009 be destroyed and sealed.

(20:3, App. C, 303).

At the hearing the Court, by the Honorable Richard Congdon, indicated that the presentence writer admitted to including improper information in the PSI 1, such that:

Mr. Centinario, the – Mr. Drankiewicz, the agent, says in his letter or seems to admit that – I'll recite from it. He writes, "The decision to include this information in this sentencing may be a deviation of the standard outline," and then it goes on to say, "It may be included otherwise or elsewhere."

Do you agree this is somewhat of a deviation from the standard outline?

(49: 9; App. A, 109).

The State responded, "...you know, I can't disagree with him."

The Court then made the following ruling regarding the PSI 1:

The Court has looked at this and the Court had reviewed the presentence actually several times. This matter was set for sentencing on several occasions, and for a variety of reasons, that never happened. The presentence investigation was prepared November 19, 2009, and each time I had reviewed it and reviewed this particular incident, it was – had little or no impact on the Court at all. I did not find it helpful as to what the Court was – would be doing, and as I was – in all likelihood, unless there is something brought to my attention at the –at a sentencing hearing, was likely to disregard it as not all that relevant.

Mr. Keane is correct, that - so the Court believes that this information is of little use to the Court at a sentencing. Mr. Keane argues that - that I have the authority to order that part stricken, and I believe I do if - it's apparent - I think inherent within the authority

given to me under 972.15, is that the Court request that this is done.

I also look at the D.O.C. 328.27 of the Administrative Code. Sub 2 says, "Upon order of the Court the – agent shall prepare a presentence investigation report and shall contain the information provided for under this section unless the Court orders otherwise," and then it goes on to say what the contents should be as outlined in Mr. Keane's motion and information in support of that motion.

The Court did not order anything otherwise that it wanted. It ordered the presentence investigation as was contemplated by the regular outline of that. So, the Court has already made a finding that such information about this other activity, and the Court would find that or believe that it could very well be prejudicial to Mr. Melton as he goes through whatever route is eventually – that the Court will set for him. It will be prejudicial to him. The Court will note that this information is uncharged and unverified except for what – the alleged statements.

The Court will therefore grant the motion, will ask for a new presentence investigation, or at least an updated one.

#### (49: 11-13; App. A, 111-113).

Melton's attorney then requested that the PSI 1 be destroyed, "I would ask that the P.S.I.s be stricken and destroyed. If it's sealed in the file, it's going to become available at some point. I think the thing should be redone – that's the Court's position – without a reference to this event. (49: 14; App. A, 114).

The State then voluntarily agreed to return its copy of the PSI 1 to the court for destruction. (49: 15; App. A, 115).

A written order was entered by the Court indicating that, "The presentence investigation report dated November 19, 2009 shall be sealed and destroyed following the expiration of any appellate time limits, and defendant's copy shall be returned to the Court." (21:1; App. D, 401).

The PSI 2 was prepared and filed with the court. (22:1). Sentencing proceeded and the information in the PSI 2 was appropriately used at the sentencing hearing, and is not in dispute. (51:1-27).

Following the sentencing the Court, by the Honorable Mark Gundrum, requested a Review Hearing because he did not believe he had the authority to destroy the PSI 1.<sup>1</sup> (53:2; App. B, 202). The Court stated:

Looking through the statutes, keeping it confidential is what is envisioned by the statute, and the Court didn't want to just go contrary to that order without having a hearing about it. Does somebody read the statutes differently than that, or see other authority for destroying a presentence investigation report?

(53:2; App. B, 202).

Not being advised of any authority, the Court stated the following:

Okay. Well, it's the intention of this Court to modify the Order of May 14<sup>th</sup> to remove the portions which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As indicated, a different judge presided over the review hearing.

refer to destroying the presentence investigation report. It obviously can always be destroyed at some later date and the order can be revisited if some law is pointed out saying that that's something that's appropriate. But at this point I believe it would be inappropriate to destroy it. And rather than just ignore that Order, it seems to make more sense to the Court to amend the Order and just essentially keep it as is, except, and the sentence as follows: Number 2, the presentence investigation report dated November 19, 2009, shall be sealed, period.

That's the intention of the Court.

(53:3-4; App. B, 203-204).

The Court went on to say, "Just so we have that kind of clean and covered. And if there's some later authority shown and a desire by somebody to do something different, that can be raised at that time." (53:4; App. B, 204).

A Modified Order was then prepared. (30:1; 26:1; App. E, 501).

Melton now files this appeal following the final order of the Court.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The Circuit Court Has the Inherent Authority to Order the Destruction of a Defective Presentence Investigation Report.

The issue of judicial authority is a question of law that this court reviews de novo. *City of Sun Prairie v. Davis*, 226 Wis. 2d 738, 747, 595 N.W.2d 635 (1999).

There are three areas where courts have exercised their inherent authority. First, courts have authority over the internal operations of the court. *Id.* at 749. Second, courts have authority to regulate members of the bench and bar. *Id.* Third, the court may exercise inherent authority to ensure that the court functions efficiently and effectively to provide the fair administration of justice. *Id.* at 749-50.

It has been said that "[t]he general control of the judicial business before it is essential to the court if it is to function. 'Every court has inherent power, exercisable in its sound discretion, consistent within the Constitution and statutes, to control disposition of causes on its docket with economy of time and effort.'" *Latham v. Casey & King Corp.*, 23 Wis. 2d 311, 314-15, 127 N.W.2d 225 (1964) (internal citations omitted).

The circuit court's original order to destroy the PSI

1in the present case would have been valid pursuant to its
inherent power to regulate the powers of the court and to
provide the fair administration of justice.

In contemplating its decision, the circuit court correctly recognized that there is no statutory language

granting the Court the authority to destroy a defective PSI; though, there is also no statutory language in Wis. Stats. § 972.15 prohibiting the destruction of a defective PSI by order of the Court. In fact, one of the purposes of Wis. Stats. § 972.15, is to prevent public disclosure of the information in a PSI, both to protect informants and the defendant, and to encourage the defendant and other sources to cooperate candidly in providing information. *State v. Comstock*, 168 Wis. 2d 915, 924-925, 485 N.W.2d 354, 356-57 (1992). With this in mind, the destruction of the PSI 1 would actually help fulfill the purpose of the statute by preventing the disclosure of sensitive information to the public.

Since no statute exists to guide the Court, the Court is left to deal with the PSI 1 under its inherent authority. The Court recognized this in its initial ruling stating, "Mr. Keane argues that – that I have the authority to order that part stricken, and I believe I do if – it's apparent – I think inherent within the authority given to me under 972.15, is that the Court request that this is done." (49:12; App. A, 112).

For the reasons stated on the record, and in the facts above, the Court granted the request to destroy the PSI 1. (49: 11-13; App. A, 111-113). The prosecutor also joined in and voluntarily offered to turn in their copy of the PSI 1 for destruction. (49: 15; App. A, 115).

The ability to destroy the defective PSI 1 is clearly within the Court's inherent authority. Among other things, the Court's ability to decide which documents will be accepted for filing is among the internal operations of the court, and the Court has essentially indicated that the PSI 1 will not be accepted by the Court. Also, the destruction of the PSI 1 will help insure that the Court functions efficiently and effectively by eliminating the confusion that having two sealed PSI's in a file will create.

If the PSI 1 is not destroyed Melton would be prejudiced as set forth in Wis. Stats. § 972.15(5), since the Department of Correction may use the presentence investigation report for correctional programming, parole consideration or care and treatment of any person sentenced to imprisonment. Further, Wis. Stats. § 972.15(6), authorizes the PSI report and any information contained in it

or upon which it is based to be used in any evaluation, examination, referral, hearing, trial, postcommitment relief proceeding, appeal, or other proceeding under Ch. 980, Wis. Stats. The list of individuals that may use the report under Wis. Stats. § 972.15(6) include, the Department of Corrections, the Department of Health Services, the individual or his attorney, the attorney representing the State, a licensed physician, psychologist, or other mental health professional who is examining the individual, and the Court or jury hearing the case.

The Court did not contemplate that the PSI 1 would be used for any of the aforementioned purposes, or any other purpose for that matter. That being said, simply sealing the PSI 1 does not go far enough. It is the general practice of the circuit court to seal PSI's in the court file. If you seal the PSI 1, it will be in the same file as the sealed PSI 2. Allowing the PSI 1 to remain in Melton's file is like failing to disarm a ticking time bomb. The mere fact that it is present in the file prejudices Melton; as to this the Court agreed. (49: 11-13; App. A, 111-113).

On the other hand, destroying the PSI 1 creates no

prejudice to the State, the Department of Corrections,

Melton, or anyone else. There is no prejudice in its

destruction because the PSI 2 will remain in Melton's file

for use by any agency requiring it.

Therefore, Melton is requesting that the decision of

the circuit court be overturned, and that the original order be

reinstated, or, in the alternative, that the case be remanded

back to the circuit court with instructions that the circuit

court has the authority to order the destruction of the PSI 1.

**CONCLUSION** 

As indicated in the above discussion, Melton requests

that the Court overturn the circuit court and reinstate the

original Order dated March 31, 2010, or, in the alternative,

remand the case back to the circuit court with instructions

that the circuit court has the authority to destroy the PSI 1.