RECEIVED

12-14-2012

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COUR OF WISCONSIN

Case Nos. 2011AP1770-CR, 2011AP1771-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

BRANDON M. MELTON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS REVERSING AN ORDER ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WAUKESHA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MARK D. GUNDRUM, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

JACOB J. WITTWER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041288

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The court of appeals' holding that the circuit court had the inherent authority to destroy the first PSI report in Melton's case raises concerns about the scope of circuit courts' non-statutory powers, and, particularly, when circuit courts may destroy court documents in a case file.

As developed in the Argument below, the circuit court correctly determined that it lacked the authority to destroy the PSI report because the PSI statute, Wis. Stat. § 972.15, does not confer such power—a point that Melton concedes—and the court lacked the inherent authority to destroy the report. The State respectfully submits that the court of appeals' decision reversing the circuit court's order and holding that the circuit court had the inherent authority to destroy the PSI report must be overturned for the following three reasons.

First, the supreme court has already exercised inherent authority on behalf of the court system in the field of retention and destruction of court documents by adopting SCR 72 pursuant to its superintending authority, and destruction of the PSI report at this time would conflict with SCR 72. Specifically, under SCR 72.01(15), the Wisconsin Supreme Court granted circuit courts the power to destroy papers in felony case files—but only after "all papers" have been retained for 50 years after entry of judgment, or for 75 years in the case of Class A

felonies. By adopting a lengthy retention period, this court made a clear and sound public policy choice in favor of government transparency and accountability. Wisconsin has a unitary court system, and where this court sets policy in a given area, the circuit courts lack the authority to act in a manner that is inconsistent with those rules.

Second, the power to destroy the PSI report is, by definition, not inherent to the circuit court because it is not "essential to the existence or the orderly functioning of" the court, In Interest of E.C., 130 Wis. 2d 376, 387, 387 N.W.2d 72 (1986). This power is not necessary where the PSI statute already authorizes sealing the PSI report. Melton's primary reason for seeking destruction of the PSI report is to prevent its use by DOC and other authorized parties. However, the power to destroy the PSI report to prevent its use by the DOC is contrary to Wis. Stat. § 972.15(4), (5) and (6), which specifically authorizes DOC to access and use the report without court approval. Moreover, courts lack the power to alter PSI reports for purposes related to DOC administration, Bush, 185 Wis. 2d at 722-24, and DOC's use of the PSI report is not a matter that concerns the circuit court's existence and functioning.

Third, the court of appeals' rationale for destroying the PSI report—to prevent "confusion" and "misuse" of the first PSI report at a resentencing proceeding—does not hold up. A court would not be confused by the presence of two PSI reports in Melton's file because they are sealed in separate, clearly-marked envelopes and the court's order permanently sealing the first PSI report is affixed to the envelope containing that report. More importantly, use of the first report at resentencing would not constitute "misuse" of the report. This is because a resentencing court would be permitted to consider Melton's admission to the uncharged offense contained in the first PSI report. This is not a case in which the disputed PSI report contains inaccurate information; Melton has never disputed the accuracy of his admission to the uncharged

child sex offense described in the first report. He simply does not want DOC or other authorized parties to use his admission in corrections administration or in support of a Chapter 980 petition. Sentencing courts may rely on the facts of uncharged offenses in passing sentence, State v. Leitner, 2002 WI 77, ¶ 45, 253 Wis. 2d 449, 646 N.W.2d 341, and a court could rely on Melton's admission contained in the first PSI report at a resentencing. Accordingly, the concern about "confusion" at a potential resentencing is a red herring.

ARGUMENT

THE CIRCUIT COURT **PROPERLY** LACKED CONCLUDED IT THE AUTHORITY TO DESTROY THE PSI REPORT. AND THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN HOLDING THAT CIRCUIT COURT HAD INHERENT AUTHORITY TO DESTROY THE **REPORT** TO **PREVENT** "CONFUSION" AT A RESENTENCING.

- A. Applicable Law.
 - 1. The PSI Statute.
 - a. Wis. Stat. § 972.15.

In felony convictions, the court may within its discretion order an employee of the Department of

Corrections to prepare a presentence investigation report. Wis. Stat. § 972.15(1)⁵. The "primary purpose" of the PSI

⁵ Wisconsin Stat. § 972.15 provides, as pertinent:

(1) After a conviction the court may order a presentence investigation, except that the court may order an employee of the department to conduct a presentence investigation only after a conviction for a felony.

. .

(4) Except as provided in sub. (4m) [pertaining to the access of parties and counsel to the PSI report], (5), or (6), after sentencing the presentence investigation report shall be confidential and shall not be made available to any person except upon specific authorization of the court.

. . .

- (5) The department may use the presentence investigation report for correctional programming, parole consideration or care and treatment of any person sentenced to imprisonment or the intensive sanctions program, placed on probation, released on parole or extended supervision or committed to the department under ch. 51 or 971 or any other person in the custody of the department or for research purposes. The department may make the report available to other agencies or persons to use for purposes related to correctional programming, parole consideration, care and treatment, or research. Any use of the report under this subsection is subject to the following conditions:
 - (a) If a report is used or made available to use for research purposes and the research involves personal contact with subjects, the department, agency or person conducting the research may use a subject only with the written consent of the subject or the subject's authorized representative.
 - (b) The department or the agency or person to whom the report is made available shall not disclose the name or any other

report is "to provide the sentencing court with accurate and relevant information upon which to base its sentencing decision." Wis. Admin. Code § DOC 328.27(1); see State v. Washington, 2009 WI App 148, ¶ 9, 321 Wis. 2d 508, 775 N.W.2d 535 (stating that the PSI is intended "to assist the judge in selecting the appropriate sentence for the individual defendant"). In preparing the report, the PSI author "functions as an agent of the court." State v. Thexton, 2007 WI App 11, ¶ 5, 298 Wis. 2d 263, 727 N.W.2d 560.

identifying characteristics of the subject, except for disclosure to appropriate staff members or employees of the department, agency or person as necessary for purposes related to correctional programming, parole consideration, care and treatment, or research.

- (6) The presentence investigation report and any information contained in it or upon which it is based may be used by any of the following persons in any evaluation, examination, referral, hearing, trial, postcommitment relief proceeding, appeal, or other proceeding under ch. 980:
 - (a) The department of corrections.
 - (b) The department of health services.
 - (c) The person who is the subject of the presentence investigation report, his or her attorney, or an agent or employee of the attorney.
 - (d) The attorney representing the state or an agent or employee of the attorney.
 - (e) A licensed physician, licensed psychologist, or other mental health professional who is examining the subject of the presentence investigation report.
 - (f) The court and, if applicable, the jury hearing the case.

However, the statute provides that state agencies may use the PSI report for purposes of determining the appropriate course of treatment and security classification of persons in their custody. Wisconsin Stat. § 972.15(5) authorizes the DOC to use the PSI report to determine "correctional programming, parole consideration or care and treatment" for anyone in the DOC's custody. *See State v. Watson*, 227 Wis. 2d 167, 193, 595 N.W.2d 403 (1999). And § 972.15(6) authorizes DOC and other parties to use the contents of the PSI report in support of a commitment petition under Chapter 980. *See State v. Zanelli*, 212 Wis. 2d 358, 378, 569 N.W.2d 301 (Ct. App. 1997).

The statute mandates that the contents of the PSI report "shall be confidential and shall not be made available to any person . . . except upon specific authorization of the court." Wis. Stat. § 972.15(4). However, the DOC need not obtain court approval to access and use the PSI report in corrections administration, § 972.15(5), and, likewise, court approval is unnecessary for authorized parties seeking to obtain a copy of the PSI report for use in a Chapter 980 proceeding. Sec. 972.15(6).

b. Defendants have a right to challenge inaccurate information in a PSI report for sentencing purposes.

A defendant is entitled to challenge allegedly inaccurate information contained in a PSI report as a part of his or her due process right to be sentenced on the basis of "true and correct" information. *See State v. Greve*, 2004 WI 69, ¶ 27, 272 Wis. 2d 444, 681 N.W.2d 479. However, defendants do not have a post-sentencing right to challenge in the circuit court inaccurate information in a

PSI to prevent the DOC from relying on the disputed information in corrections administration. *See Bush*, 185 Wis. 2d 722-24. "[P]olicy principles and considerations of judicial administration dictate that courts should not exercise their jurisdiction to correct PSIs for reasons solely related to the Department of Corrections administration." *Bush*, 185 Wis. 2d at 724.

Courts will "strike" portions of a PSI report containing inaccurate or disputed information, or "strike" the entire PSI report and direct the DOC to produce a new report. *See State v. Suchocki*, 208 Wis. 2d 509, 515, 520, 561 N.W.2d 332 (Ct. App. 1997) (circuit court erred by not "striking" the entire PSI report where the PSI author was married to the prosecutor), *abrogated on other grounds by State v. Tiepelman*, 2006 WI 66, 291 Wis. 2d 179, 717 N.W.2d 1.

c. Wis. Stat. § 972.15
authorizes sealing PSI reports, but not destroying them.

As noted, Wis. Stat. § 972.15(4) provides that the PSI report "shall be confidential and shall not be made available to any person except upon specific authorization of the court" subject to the exceptions discussed above. Implicit in § 972.15(4) is the power for the court to place the PSI under seal after sentencing. Such power is plainly necessary to effectuate the confidentiality requirement of § 972.15(4).

Melton has not contended that the circuit court had the statutory authority under Wis. Stat. § 972.15 to destroy the PSI report, and the State agrees that the statute confers no such authority. In fact, the power to destroy a PSI would be contrary to the twin purposes of subsection (4): confidentiality *and* preservation. By providing that the report "shall not be made available to any person except

upon specific authorization of the court," § 972.15(4) contemplates that the PSI will be kept confidential *and* be kept intact after sentencing so that it may be accessed upon court order. The circuit court thus correctly observed that the statute "envision[s]" "keeping [the PSI] confidential," not destroying it (53:2; A-Ap. B2; Pet-Ap. 132).

In the court of appeals, the State asserted that it perceived no difference between the terms "strike" and "destroy," and, accordingly, conceded that a circuit court "would appear to have the authority under case law to 'destroy' a PSI" before sentencing and entry of judgment "for purposes of barring its use at sentencing" (State's court of appeals' br. at 8-9). Upon further consideration, the State respectfully requests leave to withdraw this concession. The State now believes that "strike" as used in this context is ambiguous, and may reasonably be read to also mean "disregard" or "ignore." *Cf. State v. Pitsch*, 124 Wis. 2d 628, 644 & n.8, 369 N.W.2d 711 (1985) (noting that the jury is presumed to disregard testimony a court orders stricken from the record).

While the State's concession in the court of appeals was not material to the issue presented in this case—which was and is whether a circuit court may destroy the PSI report after entry of judgment—the State requests its withdrawal in recognition that the power to destroy a PSI report before sentencing raises a larger unresolved question: Whether circuit courts have the inherent authority to destroy any document in a court record once it has been filed in a record. The State does not take a position on this question here, and, of course, this court need not address this issue to resolve the dispute in the present case.

2. Inherent Authority.

In addition to the powers expressly granted by the state constitution and statutes, Wisconsin circuit courts have "inherent, implied and incidental powers." *Henley*,

328 Wis. 2d 544, ¶ 73 (citation omitted). This court has explained that "[t]hese terms

'are used to describe those powers which must necessarily be used' to enable the judiciary to accomplish its constitutionally or legislatively mandated functions. [State ex rel.]Friedrich[v. Dane County Cir. Ct.], 192 Wis. 2d [1], 16, 531 N.W.2d 32 [(1995)] (citing State v. Holmes, 106 Wis. 2d 31, 44, 315 N.W.2d 703 (1982) (quoting State v. Cannon, 199 Wis. 401, 402, 226 N.W. 385 (1929))). Inherent powers are those that "have been conceded to courts because they are courts. Such powers have been conceded because without them they could neither maintain their dignity, transact their business, nor accomplish the purposes of their existence." Jacobson v. Avestruz, 81 Wis. 2d 240, 245, 260 N.W.2d 267 (1977) (quoting State v. Cannon, 196 Wis. 534, 536-37, 221 N.W. 603 (1928)). See also Flynn[v. Department of Admin.], 216 Wis. 2d [521,] 548, 576 N.W.2d 245 [(1998)]; Friedrich, 192 Wis. 2d at 16-17, 531 N.W.2d 32.

City of Sun Prairie v. Davis, 226 Wis. 2d 738, 747-48, 595 N.W.2d 635 (1999).

"A power is inherent when it 'is one without which a court cannot properly function." *Henley*, 328 Wis. 2d 544, ¶ 73 (quoting *State v. Braunsdorf*, 98 Wis. 2d 569, 580, 297 N.W.2d 808 (1980)).

Depending upon the subject matter, the court's inherent authority may be exclusive to the court or it may be shared with the inherent authority of the legislative or executive branches. *Davis*, 226 Wis. 2d at 748. "When the powers of the branches overlap, one branch is prohibited from unduly burdening or substantially interfering with the other." *Flynn v. Dep't of Admin.*, 216 Wis. 2d 521, 545-46, 576 N.W.2d 245 (1998).

Circuit courts exercise inherent authority in three general areas. *Davis*, 226 Wis. 2d at 749. First, courts have inherent authority to manage the internal operations of the court "to guard against 'any action that would

unreasonably curtail the powers or materially impair the efficacy of the courts or judicial system." *Id.* (discussing Barland v. Eau Claire County, 216 Wis. 2d 560, 587-88, 575 N.W.2d 691 (1998) (court had the inherent authority to retain judicial assistant); *In re Courtroom*, 148 Wis. 109, 134 N.W. 490 (1912) (court had the inherent authority to refuse substandard facilities proposed by the county). Second, courts have inherent authority to regulate attorneys and judges. *Davis*, 226 Wis. 2d at 749. Third, courts have inherent authority to "ensur[e] that the court functions efficiently and effectively to provide the fair administration of justice." *Id.* at 749-50.

Under this third area, courts have the inherent authority to

appoint counsel for indigent parties, Joni B. v. State, 202 Wis. 2d 1, 9, 549 N.W.2d 411 (1996); determine compensation court-appointed for attorneys, Friedrich, 192 Wis. 2d at 19, 531 N.W.2d 32; vacate a void judgment because the court had no authority to enter the judgment in the first place, City of Kenosha v. Jensen, 184 Wis. 2d 91, 98, 516 N.W.2d 4 (1994); assess the costs to the parties of impaneling a jury, Jacobson, 81 Wis. 2d at 247, 260 N.W.2d 267; order dismissal of a complaint if the attorney fails to appear for a pretrial conference and the attorney was warned of the possible sanction of dismissal, Latham[Casey & King Corp.], 23 Wis. 2d [311,] 315-16, 317, 127 N.W.2d 225 [(1964)]; and order parties to exchange names of lay witnesses, Carlson Heating, Inc. v. Onchuck, 104 Wis. 2d 175, 180, 311 N.W.2d 673 (Ct.App.1981).

Davis, 226 Wis. 2d at 750. However, this court has also found that circuit courts lack the inherent authority to expunge juvenile police records, *In Interest of E.C.*, 130 Wis. 2d at 381, or to dismiss a criminal case with prejudice prior to attachment of jeopardy on nonconstitutional grounds, *Braunsdorf*, 98 Wis. 2d at 585.

Questions of judicial authority are subject to de novo review. *In Interest of E.C.*, 130 Wis. 2d at 381.

3. The Court Record Retention Rule, SCR 72.01.

In 1987, this court adopted Chapter 72 of the Supreme Court Rules relating to the retention of court records "in exercise of its constitutional authority over all courts" pursuant to Article VII, § 3 of the Wisconsin Constitution. 6 In the Matter of the Creation of Supreme Court Rules Chapter 72: Retention of Court Records, 136 Wis. 2d xi.

The current version of Chapter 72 provides that "all papers" in felony case files "shall be retained" for "50 years after entry of final judgment," except that the retention period is 75 years for Class A felonies:

[T]he original paper records of any court shall be retained in the custody of the court for the following minimum time periods:

. . . .

(15) Felony case files. All papers deposited with the clerk of circuit courts in proceedings commenced as felonies: 50 years after entry of final judgment;

Article VII, § 2 of the state constitution provides as follows:

The judicial power of this state shall be vested in a unified court system consisting of one supreme court, a court of appeals, a circuit court, such trial courts of general uniform statewide jurisdiction as the legislature may create by law, and a municipal court if authorized by the legislature under section 14.

⁶ Article VII, § 3 of the state constitution provides as follows: "The supreme court shall have superintending and administrative authority over all courts."

except for Class A felonies, 75 years after entry of final judgment.

SCR 72.01.

In 1997, this court amended Chapter 72 to establish a rule relating to the expunction of court records. *In the Matter of the Amendment of Supreme Court Rules: SCR* 72.06—Expunction of Court Records, 216 Wis. 2d xxi.

The expunction section currently provides as follows:

When required by statute or court order to expunge a court record, the clerk of the court shall do all of the following:

- (1) Remove any paper index and nonfinancial court record and place them in the case file.
- (2) Electronically remove any automated nonfinancial record, except the case number.
 - (3) Seal the entire case file.
- (4) Destroy expunged court records in accordance with the provisions of this chapter.

SCR 72.06.

B. Destruction of the PSI Report Would Conflict With This Court's Rules Pertaining to the Retention and Destruction of Court Documents After Entry of Judgment.

Before engaging in an inherent power analysis by addressing whether the power to destroy the PSI report is inherent to the court's functioning and existence, the State respectfully submits that there is a more fundamental problem with the court of appeals' conclusion that the circuit court had the inherent power to destroy the PSI report: Such a power would conflict with this court's mandate on all state courts in SCR 72.01 that "all papers" be retained in felony case files for at least "50 years after entry of final judgment" SCR 72.01(15). This argument was made to the court of appeals (State's court of appeals' br. at 14-15), but was not addressed in the court's decision.

As noted, this court adopted the court record retention rules under Chapter 72 pursuant to its superintending and administrative authority over the courts of this state. In doing so, this court set policy for all courts within the state in a field in which the judicial branch has inherent power: the retention and destruction of court records.⁷

Under SCR 72.01(15), the Wisconsin Supreme Court granted circuit courts—in the person of the clerk of court or other records custodian, SCR 72.02(1)—the power to destroy papers in felony case files. But it

⁷ The State observes that the courts likely share power with the legislature in this area, particularly given the costs of record storage. *See Flynn v. Dep't of Admin.*, 216 Wis. 2d 521, 547-49, 576 N.W.2d 245 (1998) (supreme court and legislature shared inherent power where court exercised superintending authority to establish and maintain court automation program, and legislature held purse strings to fund program). However, this court's exercise of inherent authority in this area by adopting SCR 72 is not at issue in this case.

provided that circuit courts may exercise this power *only* after "all papers" have been retained for 50 years after entry of judgment, or for 75 years in the case of Class A felonies. Thus, a circuit court violates SCR 72.01 by destroying any paper in a felony case file after judgment has been entered in the case and before the 50/75-year retention period has expired.

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